
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

    
   ) 
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION, ) 
   )  
  Plaintiff, ) Civ. No. 17-22643 (RNS-EGT) 
   ) 
  v. )  
   ) MOTION TO EXTEND  
DAVID RIVERA,  )  TIME FOR SERVICE  
   ) 
  Defendant. ) 
   ) 
 

PLAINTIFF FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION’S MOTION TO  
EXTEND TIME FOR SERVICE OF THE SUMMONS AND  

COMPLAINT AND MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT THEREOF 
 

 Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 4(m), the Federal Election Commission 

(“FEC” or “Commission”) hereby moves this Court for an Order extending the time for service 

of the summons and complaint on defendant David Rivera for an additional 60 days.  Good 

cause for this extension exists, as demonstrated below and in the attached supporting declaration. 

 Rule 4(m) provides that a court “must extend the time for service for an appropriate 

period” where the plaintiff can show good cause for its inability to serve a defendant within 90 

days.  Good cause exists when an outside factor, such as the defendant’s evasion, prevents 

service, rather than negligence or inadvertence by the plaintiff.  Here, good cause exists because 

the FEC and the United States Marshals Service promptly, diligently, and repeatedly attempted 

to locate and serve Rivera throughout the 90-day service window.  Rivera, who is almost 

certainly aware of the existence of this well-publicized lawsuit, may have evaded those efforts 

and has failed to respond to the FEC’s and the Marshals Service’s attempts to contact him in 

person, by phone, and by email.  He may also coincidentally have been out of the country for an 
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extended period of time since the complaint was filed.  Either way, good cause exists.  In 

addition potential service time was lost due to the disruptive effects of Hurricane Irma.    

 An extension of the service period is further warranted in this case because a dismissal, 

even without prejudice, could result in the applicable statute of limitations barring the refiling of 

this case or limiting the FEC’s available remedies.  Good cause for an extension exists here, but 

even if it did not, this Court has the discretion to extend the period for service for lawsuits that 

would otherwise be potentially time-barred.   

BACKGROUND 

 The FEC is the independent agency of the United States government with exclusive 

jurisdiction over the administration, interpretation, and civil enforcement of Federal 

Election Campaign Act (“FECA”).  See 52 U.S.C. §§ 30106(b)(1), 30107(a), 30109.  The 

Commission is authorized to institute investigations of possible violations of the Act, id.  

§ 30109(a)(1)-(2), and to initiate civil actions in the United States district courts to obtain judicial 

enforcement of the Act, id. §§ 30107(e), 30109(a)(6). 

 The Complaint alleges that during the 2011-2012 federal election cycle, then-U.S. 

Congressman David Rivera knowingly and willfully violated FECA’s ban on making 

contributions in the names of others, 52 U.S.C. § 30122 (formerly 2 U.S.C. § 441(f)), by 

engaging in a scheme to secretly provide more than $69,000 in direct and in-kind contributions 

to the primary election campaign of Justin Lamar Sternad in Florida’s 26th Congressional 

District.  (Docket No. 1.)  Two of the other participants in the scheme pleaded guilty to criminal 

counts of violating section 30122, among other offenses.  See Judgment in a Criminal Case, 

United States v. Sternad, No. 13-CR-20108 (S.D. Fla. July 11, 2014) (Docket No. 43); Judgment 

in a Criminal Case, United States v. Alliegro, No. 14-CR-20102 (S.D. Fla. Sept. 10, 2014) 
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(Docket No. 118).  Rivera’s scheme involved concealing in-kind contributions by paying 

vendors mostly in cash to produce and distribute materials for another campaign in an attempt to 

weaken or eliminate Rivera’s likely general-election opponent.  (Compl. ¶ 1 (Docket No. 1).)  To 

remedy these violations, the FEC seeks civil penalties, declaratory, injunctive and other 

appropriate relief.  (Id. at 9-10.)   

 Prior to this lawsuit, the Commission conducted administrative proceedings against 

Rivera for his violations of section 30122.  (Compl. ¶¶ 28-34.)  The Commission notified Rivera 

on April 26, 2013 that it had received information that Rivera may have violated FECA.  (Id.  

¶ 28.)  On September 11, 2013, the FEC notified Rivera that it had found reason to believe that 

Rivera knowingly and willfully violated section 30122.  (Id. ¶ 29.)  On September 25, 2013, 

Rivera, through counsel, responded to the FEC and denied violating FECA.  (Id. ¶ 30.)  On June 

2, 2017, the Commission notified Rivera that it had found probable cause to believe that Rivera 

violated FECA.  (Id. ¶¶ 32-33.)  After conciliation efforts with Rivera failed, the Commission 

authorized the filing of this lawsuit.  (Id. ¶¶ 33-34.)  On July 12, 2017, FEC counsel sent an 

email to Rivera in a final, pre-filing attempt to settle.  (Decl. of Greg J. Mueller (“Mueller 

Decl.”) ¶¶ 3-4.)  Rivera did not respond.  (Id.) 

The FEC filed its civil complaint against Rivera on July 14, 2017.  (Docket No. 1.)  The 

filing was publicized in national and local media.  See, e.g., Matt Dixon, FEC Sues Rivera Over 

Campaign Cash Fraud Scheme, Politico.com (July 17, 2017), http://www.politico.com/states/ 

florida/story/2017/07/17/rivera-being-sued-by-fec-over-campaign-cash-fraud-scheme-113428; 

Patricia Mazzei & David Smiley, Federal Election Commission Sues David Rivera Over Secret 

2012 Campaign Cash, Miami Herald (July 17, 2017), http://www.miamiherald.com/news/ 

politics-government/article161811593.html.  
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A few days later, on July 19, 2017, the Court issued the summons.  (Docket No. 5.)  That 

same day, on July 19, 2017, the FEC submitted the summons, complaint, and other required 

papers to the United States Marshals Service in the District of Columbia and requested that it 

arrange service in the Southern District of Florida.  (Mueller Decl. ¶ 5.)   

 The next day, on July 20, 2017, a Deputy Marshal attempted to serve Rivera at the 

address in Doral, Florida, that Rivera had listed on state campaign finance reports, had provided 

to the Commission in the administrative proceeding, and that is believed to be his principal 

residence, but received no answer.  (Process Receipt and Return (Form USM-285), (Oct. 5, 

2017) (Docket No. 8); Florida Department of State, Committee Tracking System, 

http://dos.elections.myflorida.com/committees/ComDetail.asp?account=66498 (last visited 

Oct. 12, 2017); Mueller Decl. ¶ 4.)  The Deputy Marshal then encountered an individual in the 

driveway at that address who “refused to answer questions” regarding Rivera.  (Process Receipt 

and Return (Form USM-285), (Oct. 5, 2017) (Docket No. 8).)  Four days later, on July 24, 2017, 

the Deputy Marshal attempted to serve Rivera again at the address in Doral, but again received 

no answer.  (Id.)  The Deputy Marshal left his business card at that address.  (Id.)  On July 25 

and 26, 2017, the Deputy Marshal attempted to serve Rivera at two alternative addresses at 

which there was some reason to believe Rivera may be located.  (Id.)  At these addresses there 

again was no answer and the Deputy Marshal again left his business cards.  (Id.)   

 On August 14, 2017, counsel for the Commission and the Deputy Marshal consulted 

regarding ongoing investigative activity in connection with potential future attempts to serve 

Rivera.  (Mueller Decl. ¶ 7.)  The next day, on August 15, 2017, counsel for the FEC provided 

information to the Deputy Marshal from the FEC’s administrative proceedings to assist with the 

effort to serve defendant.  (Id. ¶ 8.)  In early September 2017, due to Hurricane Irma, counsel for 
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the Commission refrained from making attempts to contact Rivera or to communicate with the 

Marshals Service in Miami in order to not distract from preparations for the storm or subsequent 

recovery efforts.  (Id. ¶ 9.)  

On September 20, 2017, counsel for the Commission had further consultations with the 

Deputy Marshal about ongoing investigative activity related to service on Rivera, and on 

September 29, 2017, counsel for the Commission provided additional information from its 

administrative investigation to the Deputy Marshal to assist with service.  (Mueller Decl. ¶ 10.) 

 Additionally, Rivera has not answered repeated phone calls to his cell phone.  (Mueller 

Decl. ¶¶ 3, 11, 13)  In the most recent attempts to contact Rivera by phone, on October 4 and 12, 

2017, the outgoing voicemail message stated that Rivera was traveling outside the country and 

unable to return phone calls.  (Id. ¶¶ 11, 13.)  Counsel for the Commission left a voicemail 

message asking Rivera to contact the FEC regarding service of the summons and complaint and 

to provide his position regarding this motion.  (Id.)  To date, Rivera has not responded. 

 On October 5, 2017, the Marshals Service returned the summons to the FEC with the 

certification that the Deputy Marshal had been unable to serve Rivera.       

ARGUMENT 

I. THERE IS GOOD CAUSE TO EXTEND THE DEADLINE FOR SERVICE DUE 
TO THE GOVERNMENT’S DILIGENT BUT UNSUCCESSFUL EFFORTS AT 
SERVICE 

 
 Rule 4(m) specifies that a court “must extend the time for service for an appropriate 

period” where the plaintiff can show good cause for its inability to serve a defendant within 
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90 days.1  Good cause exists “when some outside factor . . . rather than inadvertence or 

negligence, prevented service.”  Lepone-Dempsey v. Carroll Cty. Comm’rs, 476 F.3d 1277, 

1281-82 (11th Cir. 2007).  Courts have held that “outside factor[s]” consist of events outside of 

the plaintiff’s control, including a “natural catastrophe or evasion of service of process.”  

Pridemore v. Regis Corp., No. 10-605-J-99, 2011 WL 9120, at *2 (M.D. Fla. Jan. 3, 2011); 

accord Boston v. Potter, 185 Fed. Appx. 853, 854 (11th Cir. 2006). 

 Here, the Commission and the Marshals Service have engaged in prompt, diligent, and 

sustained efforts to serve Rivera, and only factors outside of the FEC’s control have prevented 

service.  The Commission began its efforts to serve Rivera on the same day the Court issued the 

summons.  See supra p. 4.  The next day, the Marshals Service first attempted to serve Rivera at 

an address Rivera has provided as his home.  Id.  All told, the Marshals Service diligently made 

four in-person attempts to serve the summons and complaint to Rivera at three different 

addresses where there was reason to believe Rivera may be located.  Id.  After those attempts 

were unsuccessful, the Commission continued to work with the Marshals Service throughout the 

90-day period and provided information to assist with the investigation to locate Rivera.  

Id. at 4-5.  Moreover, the Commission’s efforts also included attempts to locate Rivera for 

service by telephone and email.  Id. at 3-5.  

The Commission’s diligent efforts to serve Rivera have been thwarted so far by Rivera’s 

apparent evasion of service.  Rivera is almost certainly aware of this lawsuit.  The Commission’s 

administrative proceedings against Rivera that resulted in the filing of this suit started in 2013 

                                                            
1  In 2015, the presumptive time for serving a defendant was reduced from 120 days to 90 
days.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(m), advisory committee’s note (2015 amendment).  The advisory 
committee noted that “[s]hortening the presumptive time for service will increase the frequency 
of occasions to extend the time.”  Id.  As is the case here, the committee noted that more time 
would be appropriate when “a defendant is difficult to serve.”  Id. 
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and included multiple communications with Rivera in the four years since.  See supra p. 3.  Two 

days before filing suit, on July 12, 2017, counsel for the FEC emailed Rivera to offer an 

additional opportunity to settle and the Commission has been unable to communicate with 

Rivera since he likely learned that suit had been authorized against him.  Id. at 3.  Once filed, this 

lawsuit was publicized in the national and local news media.  Id. at 3-4.   

Nevertheless, Rivera has failed to respond to the Commission’s and the Marshals 

Service’s repeated and varied attempts to contact him.  During the Deputy Marshal’s first 

attempt to serve Rivera, an unidentified individual in Rivera’s driveway refused to answer the 

deputy marshal’s questions about Rivera.  See supra p. 4.  The Deputy Marshal left his contact 

information at three different addresses linked to Rivera and yet Rivera has never contacted the 

Deputy Marshal.  Id.  Rivera has also failed to return the FEC’s phone calls and emails.  Id. at 

4-5.  His voicemail recording at one point indicated he had left the country during the 90-day 

period for service, id. at 5, which if true would further support the need for extension, even if the 

timing of the trip was coincidental. 

The Commission’s prompt and diligent efforts to serve Rivera and Rivera’s apparent 

evasion of service establish good cause.2  

II. AN EXTENSION IS ALSO WARRANTED BECAUSE THE STATUTE OF 
LIMITATIONS COULD BAR THE FEC FROM REFILING THIS CASE OR 
OBTAINING AVAILABLE REMEDIES IN THE EVENT OF DISMISSAL 

 
 There is good cause to extend the service period in this case, but even if there were not, 

this Court has discretion to nevertheless extend the service deadline “‘if the applicable statute of 

limitations would bar’” refiling the action and relief to the plaintiff.  Horenkamp v. Van Winkle 

                                                            
2  The existence of good cause here is further supported by the fact that a portion of the 90-
day service window was lost due to disruptive effects of Hurricane Irma, which made landfall in 
south Florida on September 10, 2017.  See supra p. 4-5; cf. Pridemore, 2011 WL 9120, at *2 
(stating that a “natural catastrophe” can help establish good cause under Rule 4(m)). 
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& Co., 402 F.3d 1129, 1132 (11th Cir. 2005) (quoting Rule 4(m), Advisory Committee Note 

(1993 amendments)).  Indeed, “it [is] incumbent upon the district court to at least consider” the 

running of the limitation period when considering a motion brought under Rule 4(m).  Lepone-

Dempsey, 476 F.3d at 1282. 

 In this case, the FEC’s July 14, 2017 complaint timely alleges violations that took place 

between July 14, 2012 and August 9, 2012.  (Compl. ¶¶ 12-22.)  FEC enforcement actions are 

governed by 28 U.S.C. § 2462, which requires “an action . . . for the enforcement of any civil 

fine, penalty, or forfeiture” to be “commenced within five years from the date when the claim 

first accrued.”  See FEC v. Christian Coal., 965 F. Supp. 66, 69 & n.4 (D.D.C. 1997) (“The 

applicable statute of limitations [for actions for civil penalties under FECA] is provided under 28 

U.S.C. § 2462.”).  A dismissal, even without prejudice, could bar or limit the available remedies 

in a refiled action and prevent vindicating the important public interest in enforcement of the 

campaign finance laws.  See generally FEC v. Craig for U.S. Senate, 70 F. Supp. 3d 82, 99 

(D.D.C. 2014), aff’d, 816 F.3d 829 (D.C. Cir. 2016) (finding that “‘there is always harm to the 

public when FECA is violated’”); New Motor Vehicle Bd. of Cal. v. Orrin W. Fox Co., 434 U.S. 

1345, 1351 (1977) (explaining importance of “effectuating statutes enacted by representatives of 

its people”).  

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should grant the Commission’s motion to extend 

time for service of the summons and complaint. 

LOCAL RULE 7.1(a)(3) CERTIFICATION  

 Counsel for the FEC has made reasonable efforts to confer with defendant in this action 

regarding this motion, but has been unable to do so.  Counsel for the FEC has attempted to 
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contact defendant by phone and left a voicemail message on October 4, 2017.  Defendant has not 

responded to that message.  Counsel for the FEC again attempted to contact defendant by phone, 

on October 12, 2017, but was unable to leave a voicemail message because an outgoing message 

stated the box was full.     

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Lisa J. Stevenson (Special Bar No. A5502354) 
Acting General Counsel 
lstevenson@fec.gov 
 
Kevin Deeley (Special Bar No. A5502355) 
Associate General Counsel 
kdeeley@fec.gov 
 
Kevin P. Hancock (Special Bar No. A5502375) 
Acting Assistant General Counsel 
khancock@fec.gov 
 
October 12, 2017 
 

/s/ Greg J. Mueller                    
Greg J. Mueller (Special Bar No. A5502376) 
Sana Chaudhry (Special Bar No. A5502350) 
Attorneys 
gmueller@fec.gov 
schaudhry@fec.gov 
 
 
FOR THE PLAINTIFF 
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
999 E Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C.  20463 
(202) 694-1650 
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Certificate of Service 
 
 I, Greg J. Mueller, counsel of record in this case, certify that on October 12, 2017, I 
mailed a copy of the foregoing Motion to Extend Time for Service of the Summons and 
Complaint and Memorandum in Support Thereof to defendant David Rivera, via first class mail 
addressed to 10925 NW 43rd Lane, Doral, FL 33178 and by email to rivera2002@comcast.net.   

 

/s/ Greg J. Mueller                    
Greg J. Mueller (Special Bar No. A5502376) 
Attorney 
gmueller@fec.gov 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 
    
   ) 
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION, ) 
   )  
  Plaintiff, ) Civ. No. 17-22643 (RNS-EGT) 
   ) 
  v. )  
   )  
DAVID RIVERA,  )   DECLARATION 
   ) 
  Defendant. ) 
   ) 
 

        DECLARATION OF GREG J. MUELLER 

1. I am an attorney in the Litigation Division of the Office of the General Counsel at 

the Federal Election Commission (“FEC” or “Commission”). 

2. I submit this declaration in support of the Commission’s Motion to Extend Time 

for Service of the Summons and Complaint and Memorandum in Support Thereof.  I am one of 

the attorneys assigned to this case and am familiar with the record, the FEC’s case file, and its 

efforts to contact and serve defendant David Rivera with the summons and complaint in this 

action. 

3. On July 12, 2017, counsel for the Commission sent a letter via email to Rivera, at 

Rivera2002@comcast.net, and by overnight mail to 10925 NW 43rd Lane, Doral, Florida 33178, 

suggesting that Rivera contact the FEC regarding settlement of this matter.  No one responded to 

this email and letter.  That same day counsel for the Commission left voicemail for Rivera, 

which he has not responded to.  

4. The Rivera2002@comcast.net email address is listed on the contact page of the 

Florida First Political Committee’s website.  (Florida First Political Committee, Contact Us, 

http://www.floridafirstpac.com/contact-us.html (last visited Oct. 7, 2017).)  The Florida First 
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Political Committee is registered with the Florida Secretary of State and has designated David 

Rivera as its Chairperson, Treasurer, and Registered Agent.  Florida Department of State, 

Committee Tracking System, http://dos.elections.myflorida.com/committees/ 

ComDetail.asp?account=66498 (last visited Oct. 7, 2017).  The Florida First Political Committee 

listed David Rivera’s address as 10925 Northwest 43rd Lane, Doral, FL.  This is the address that 

Rivera provided to the FEC in the administrative matter, it is on the summons in this case, and is 

the address at which the Deputy Marshal attempted service on two occasions.  (Process Receipt 

and Return (Form USM-285), at 1 (Oct. 5, 2017) (Docket No. 8).)   

5. On the same day that the Court issued the summons, July 19, 2017, the FEC 

provided, by hand delivery, the summons, complaint, and other required papers to the United 

States Marshals Service in the District of Columbia.  The FEC requested, consistent with the 

Marshal’s procedures, that it arrange service in the Southern District of Florida.  

6. On July 20, 2017, a Deputy Marshal in the Southern District of Florida attempted 

to serve Rivera at his residence, at 10925 Northwest 43rd Lane, Doral, FL.  (Process Receipt and 

Return (Form USM-285), at 1.)  On July 24, 2017, the Deputy Marshal attempted to serve Rivera 

again at the address in Doral, but again received no answer.  (Id.)  On July 25 and 26, 2017, the 

Deputy Marshal attempted to serve Rivera at two alternative addresses (8889 Fontainebleau # 

408, Miami, FL  and 16935 SW 137 Passage, Miami, FL) at which there was some reason to 

believe Rivera may be located.  (Id.)  At these addresses there again was no answer and the 

Deputy Marshal again left his business cards.  (Id.)   

7. On August 14, 2017, counsel for the Commission contacted the Deputy Marshal 

and discussed ongoing investigative activity and future attempts to serve Rivera.   
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8. On August 15, 2017, counsel for the FEC provided information to the Deputy 

Marshal from the FEC’s administrative proceedings to assist with his efforts to serve defendant. 

9. In the week leading up to September 10, 2017, the date Hurricane Irma made 

landfall in Florida, I refrained from attempting to contact David Rivera or communicating 

regarding service of the summons and complaint with the Marshals Service in Miami.  I 

understood that Hurricane Irma posed a life-threatening risk to individuals in the Miami area and 

I did not want to divert time or attention away from appropriate preparations.  In the week 

following the September 10, 2017, hurricane landfall, I likewise did not pursue service in this 

matter out of sensitivity to the recovery efforts.  

10. On September 20, 2017, counsel for the Commission had a further discussion 

with the Marshals Service about ongoing investigative activity related to service on Rivera and 

on September 29, 2017, counsel for the Commission provided additional public information to 

assist with service. 

11. On October 4, 2017, I attempted to reach Rivera on his cell phone.  The phone 

rang and after several rings connected me to a voicemail system.  The outgoing voicemail 

message noted that I had reached David Rivera and that he was out of the country and unable to 

return phone calls.  I left a voicemail message providing my contact information asking Rivera to 

contact me regarding service of the summons and complaint in this case as well as his position 

regarding the FEC’s Motion to Extend Time for Service of the Summons and Complaint.  To 

date this Rivera has not responded to this voicemail.    

12. On October 5, 2017, the Marshals Service returned the summons to the FEC 

unexecuted. 
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13. On October 12, 2017, I again attempted to reach Rivera on his cell phone.  The 

phone rang and after several rings connected me to a voicemail system.  The outgoing voicemail 

message noted that I had reached David Rivera and that he was out of the country and unable to 

return phone calls.  I was unable to leave a voicemail on this occasion because an outgoing 

message stated the box was full. 

14. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing 

is true and correct. 

Executed on October 12, 2017      /s/ Greg J. Mueller   
          Greg J. Mueller  
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 
    
   ) 
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION, ) 
   )  
  Plaintiff, ) Civ. No. 17-22643 (RNS-EGT) 
   ) 
  v. )  
   )  
DAVID RIVERA,  )  [Proposed] Order  
   ) 
  Defendant. ) 
   ) 

 
PROPOSED ORDER 

 Upon consideration of plaintiff Federal Election Commission’s motion to extend time for 

service of the Complaint, all memoranda and other materials submitted in support or opposition 

to the motion,  

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that plaintiff Federal Election Commission’s Motion to 

Extend Time for Service of the Summons and Complaint is GRANTED; and 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the time period for service of the summons is extended 

60 days from the date of this order. 

 SO ORDERED. 

        ____________________________ 
        Honorable Robert N. Scola, Jr. 
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